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Chronology of Development and Use
For purposes of analysis, the history of the Union Building can be di-
vided into two major episodes, based on the property’s ownership and 
use. The first period extended for about ninety years, from the building’s 
erection in 1889 until 1978. During this time the structure itself was 
owned and operated by the Union Building Association, the enterprise 
responsible for its construction, while the land associated with the build-
ing was owned by C&H, and after 1969 by its successor, UOP.

Throughout this period, the building continued to serve the original 
purposes for which it was constructed—as facilities for lodge groups 
on the upper floors combined with commercial space available for lease 
on the ground floor. After the building association in effect dissolved, 
and the last fraternal organization vacated the building (c.1970), own-
ership of both the land and the building was assumed by Universal Oil 
Products.

The second major period of ownership and use began in 1978 with the 
sale of the property by UOP to Raymond Ostermyer, a local resident. 
Ostermyer used the building for his place of residence and operated 
a commercial business in space on the ground floor. Throughout his 
period of ownership, Ostermyer continued to lease the remainder of the 
storefront area to various commercial tenants. In 1999 Ostermyer sold 
the property to the National Park Service, beginning a new episode of 
ownership and use. 

Overview of 
Ownership and Use

An early view of the building’s south elevation including a parade group on Red 
Jacket Road. Source: Keweenaw NHP Archives
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Due primarily to the continuity of its original function over a period of 
many years, the Union Building was not subject to considerable changes 
in original form or fabric during its period of ownership by the building 
association, and later by C&H and its successor, UOP. However, writ-
ten records—specifically, the minutes of the building association—do 
reference modifications to the building that occurred before 1914. The 
references unfortunately provide few details. 

The installation of “sewerage and water closets” in 1895 appears to be 
the first modification in the building’s room arrangement. Nine years 
later, in 1906, a door was cut into the south side of the building. Ac-
cording to the association’s minutes, the addition of the door permitted 
better access to commercial spaces in the southeastern corner of the 
building. At the same time, when Merchants and Miners Bank vacated 
the premises, a large metal safe was removed, leaving a vault room with 
three-and-one-half-foot-thick masonry walls. In 1911 a fire escape was 
installed on the north wall of the three-story building. 

A major modification that occurred at some time after 1914, since it is 
not mentioned in the building association’s minutes book, is the con-
struction of a half-story between the third floor and the roof. It appears 
that this floor was used primarily for storage in conjunction with the 
second-floor lodge rooms. Other changes that likely occurred during the 
period of ownership by the building association include: modifications 
to the original storefront windows through replacement of the original 
framing elements and glass; the conversion of a window to a door on 
the north elevation; and the removal of a stairway to the basement in 
the southern half of the building.

More detailed information is available about changes to the grounds 
around the building during this period. In the late 1910s, Calumet and 
Hecla commissioned the Boston-based landscape architect Warren Man-
ning to design a park to memorialize its former president, Alexander 
Agassiz, who had died in 1910. The area around the Union Building, 
in the southwestern corner of the proposed park, was included in Man-
ning’s plans for the project, developed around 1920. Due to downturns 
in the copper industry in the early 1920s, the plans were not fully imple-
mented. Even so, documentary evidence in the form of engineering and 
planting plans show that the area around the building was improved by 
the addition of trees and the installation of walks in the early 1920s. It is 
highly probable that Warren Manning had some part in planning these 
improvements. Remnants of the design are still in place.

Construction and 
Alterations
The Union Building 
Association, 
Calumet and Hecla, 
and Universal Oil 
Products: 1889-1978
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By the time that UOP sold the Union Building to Raymond Ostermyer 
in 1978, the fraternal groups had vacated the building and only the first 
floor was partially occupied. Ostermyer made some alterations to the 
building’s interior to adapt it for use as his home and place of business 
by adding non-structural wall partitions in the commercial spaces and 
remodelling the first-floor bathroom.

Also by this time, components of the building’s historic fabric, particu-
larly the ceilings in the third-floor meeting rooms, had been severely 
compromised due to earlier roof problems and a lack of routine main-
tenance. The cornice on the principal façade may have been removed 
during this period. Over the years, lighting fixtures on the exterior of the 
building had been replaced and several painted signs on the building’s 
exterior walls had deteriorated, or had been painted over.

 
Since the National Park Service purchased the Union Building in 1999, 
it has remained vacant and substantially unaltered, subject only to minor 
emergency repairs. 

Efforts to document the Union Building’s tenants are currently in the 
early stages of research. Attempts will be made to compile a more 
complete account of the building’s occupants, particularly during the 
period after 1930.

Free and Accepted Masons: 1889-c.1970 
	 Calumet Lodge, No. 271 
	 Montrose Commandery, No. 38, Knights Templar		
	 Calumet Lodge Order of the Eastern Star, No. 182

Independent Order of Odd Fellows: 1889-c.1960 
	 Hecla Lodge, No. 90

Modern Woodmen of America: 1895-c.1918 
	 Seneca Camp, No. 1247

Knights of Pythias: 1895-c.1917 
	 Charity Lodge, No. 131

Independent Order of Rechabites: 1895-c.1910 
	 Willing Worker’s Tent, No 20 
	 Helping Hand Tent, No. 34 
	 Busy Bee Tent, No. 10 (Juvenile) 
	 Lincoln Tent, No. 935

Private Ownership, 
Raymond Ostermyer: 

1978-1999

Building Tenants

National Park Service: 
1999-present

Fraternal 
Organizations’ Use of 

the Building
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Ancient Order of United Workmen: 1895-c.1908 
	 Red Jacket Lodge, No. 129

Ancient Order of Hiberians: 1895-c.1904 
	 A.O.H. Division, No 2 
	 Ladies Auxiliary 

Ancient Order of Foresters of America: 1895-1902 
	 Court Robin Hood, No. 6283

Sons of Hermann: 1895-1902 
	 Calumet Lodge, No. 4

Improved Order of Redmen: 1895-96 
	 Red Jacket Tribe, #42

Daughters of Rebekah: 1897-1904 
	 Stella Lodge, No. 206

St. John Baptiste Society: 1895-1905

Suomi Society: 1895-96

Partial list of commercial tenants up to 1930, including the dates that 
they occupied the building as documented in city directories:

Jackson’s Palace Store: 1889-90

Miss Mary Voitlin’s Store: 1890-92

Sample Rooms (various owners): 1889-1905

United States Post Office: 1892-1904

Lake Superior Stone and Brick Company: 1906-13

Amerikan Untiset Newspaper: 1909-14

Merchants and Miners Bank: 1889-1906

Paivalehti Publishing Company: 1908-1913

People’s Fuel Company: 1908-1913

Keweenaw Printing Company: 1917-

Isaacson and Sodergren Millinery:1906-07

Houghton County Electric Light Company: 1896-1906

Commercial Tenants
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Physical Description

The Union Building is a rectangular three-and-one-half-story brick 
masonry structure. The foundation is built of mine rubble. Window 
sills, water table, and other building features are constructed from lo-
cal Jacobsville sandstone. The roof slopes broadly to the east and is 
bounded by parapet walls on the south, west, and north.     

Tall, regularly spaced rectangular window openings with segmental 
arches punctuate the red brick façades. Windows and doors are wood, 
and door frames have integral transoms. The Union Building’s primary 
entry is recessed in the structure’s southwest corner. The west elevation, 
the building’s primary façade, incorporates a first floor storefront with 
wood frame display windows.

Perimeter masonry walls and interior load-bearing walls of both ma-
sonry and wood support the internal wood floor framing. Continuous 
steel beams that bear on the north and south exterior walls support the 
timber roof framing. 

The foundation is constructed of mine rubble masonry laid in a random 
fashion with a lime or gypsum-based mortar. Often referred to as “poor” 
or “waste” rock, the basalt and gabro was brought to the surface from 
underground, a by-product of mining activity. Because of its low copper 
content, the rock was discarded in piles near the mine sites. Locally, 
poor rock was a frequently used material for building foundations.

The condition of the foundation masonry is generally good with some 
areas of missing or loose mortar. There are also areas where the original 
mortar has been replaced over time with various cement-based mor-
tars.

Walls are constructed in a running bond of red brick with a lime or 
gypsum-based tan colored mortar. A continuous sandstone water table 
bands the perimeter of the building. Sandstone string courses are in-
corporated into the west elevation brick masonry. Portions of the brick 
masonry are painted.

Overall, the condition of the brick walls has been assessed as good with 
the exception of the east elevation which is failing and in poor condition. 
Typical brick masonry deficiencies include: open mortar joints; limited 
spalling and cracking; staining; random penetrations and openings; and 
efflorescing at the base of the wall. The brick has also been painted in 
various locations.

The sandstone water table and sills are generally in good to fair condi-

Exterior

Overview

Foundation

Walls
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tion. Both elements, however, exhibit staining, material loss due to 
weathering and delamination due to water infiltration. Some sandstone 
sills will require replacement.

All window frames, sashes, and moldings are of wood construction; 
most are double-hung with upper and lower sliding sashes. Most win-
dows are original. Many units contain original glass and hardware. The 
predominant glazing scheme is one-over-one, however, some original 
sashes have been altered or replaced with a vertical center muntin. Many 
first-floor windows have wood storm windows with a four-over-four 
configuration. Historic photographs also show storm windows on the 
second floor west elevation. Additional first floor windows include 
transoms.

Except for one remaining basement window on the south elevation, all 
others have been removed and in-filled.

The condition of individual window units varies from fair to poor 
depending upon location and weather exposure. All windows need 
reglazing and repainting. Paint failure and sun exposure, particularly 
evident on the south elevation windows, has accelerated deterioration 
in many wood components. 

The west elevation storefront display windows are, for the most part, 
replacements. The existing window configuration with transom lights is 
not consistent with the original full-height display windows evident in 
historical photographs. The carpentry and installation here is executed 
in an amateurish fashion. Window muntins and frames lack a consistent 
level of craftsmanship. 

 
All doors and door frames are wood. Most door frames and paneled 
doors are original. Some contain original glass and hardware. 

Wood doors and door frames are in good to fair condition. Surfaces and 
hardware are deteriorated and require repair.

 
The Union Building has a built-up roof that slopes toward the east. 
Rafter tails are exposed along the eaves here. A hatch opening to the 
top floor, a waste stack, a brick chimney, and two cylindrical attic ven-
tilators penetrate the roof.

The built-up roofing and flashing is in poor condition. The roof structure 

Window Openings

Entrance Systems

Roof 
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including wood decking and joists have failed and require replacement. 
All roof features, including ventilators and the hatch cover, require 
repair or replacement. 

 
The brick parapet walls are stained and partially covered in roofing tar. 
The top of the parapet walls are exposed and covered by a cement-based 
mortar. A single terra cotta coping tile that remains on the southwest 
corner of the west parapet wall indicates that there was once a continuous 
cap. The south parapet wall has three evenly spaced metal support rods 
that are connected mid-height and extend diagonally to the roof.

The brick masonry of the parapet walls is in poor condition. Mortar 
joints are loose or missing, bricks are cracked or loose at the top of the 
wall, and the missing coping cap permits water to infiltrate the masonry. 
Support rods are deteriorated and require repair or replacement. 

 
There are four brick chimneys integral to the parapet wall construction 
(two on the south wall and two on the north wall). A freestanding, cor-
belled brick chimney is centrally located in the west end of the roof.   

The top courses of each chimney on both the north and south elevations 
are missing. The chimney masonry is in poor condition, exhibiting 
spalling, cracking, and loose or missing mortar joints.

 
 
Facing Fifth Street, the west elevation is the building’s primary façade. 
The first floor is organized into two storefronts divided by three brick 
masonry piers. Each storefront has two sets of cast iron pilasters with 
revival detailing. There is a recessed entrance with double doors in the 
north storefront. A recessed corner entrance in the southwest corner 
contains two sets of double doors: one to the south first floor commercial 
space, the other to a stairway leading to the second floor. A cast iron 
column with Corinthian detailing supports the corner. 

A pressed metal storefront cornice extends across the façade and around 
the southwest corner. Although the storefront has been modified, original 
features remain. Original extant features include: the windows, doors, 
door frames, and ceilings within the recessed entrances, an original 
full-height window between the south storefront iron pilasters, various 
extant components of the wood window frames, and the wood-paneled 
stallriser assembly. The most recent alteration to the storefront was the 
installation of painted textured plywood panels over the bulkhead and 
transom windows.

Parapet Walls

Chimneys

Specific Conditions
West Elevation

Description
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The second and third floor façade is inset between flanking brick ma-
sonry piers. The façade is composed of double-hung windows grouped 
in three pairs under broad segmental arches of rock-faced sandstone. 
String courses of sandstone align with the window sills and the bottom 
of the arches.

The middle second floor window pair has a raised arch in-filled with 
terra cotta tiles. The window lintel is covered in terra cotta tile cast with 
the letters: “IOOF” (Independent Order of Odd Fellows) and the insignia 
of the fraternal organization. The flanking pairs of second floor windows 
have inscribed wood panels under the sandstone arches. The third floor 
window pairs have raised arches with terracotta tile in-fill. The middle 
window arch has terra cotta tile cast with the letters: “F&AM” (Free 
and Accepted Masons) and the Masonic insignia.

 
•The water table on the west elevation and under the southwest 
corner entrance has been painted in an apparent effort to arrest 
deterioration. The water table here is substantially eroded.

•A four-foot band of brick masonry at the top of the wall reveals 
the location of the original cornice. Here, the brick and mortar 
is of a noticeably different coloration.

•The brick masonry at the bases of the three masonry piers 
along the storefront is particularly deteriorated with open mortar 
joints and spalling. 

•Miscellaneous hardware from early signage remains attached 
to the brick masonry. Historic photographs reveal that there 
were once lanterns installed below the pairs of south windows 
on both the second and third floors. These lanterns displayed 
the insignias of the fraternal organizations within. Remnants 
of the hardware from these lanterns remain. 

 
•Cast iron stoops are installed in both the north and southwest 
corner recessed entrances.  Although early photographs do 
not reveal an entrance between the iron pilasters of the south 
storefront, the edge of a cast iron stoop is visible here. The 
stoop assembly at the southwest corner entrance has settled 
unevenly. The cast iron stoops are in good to fair condition 
with limited deterioration.

•The iron column in the southwest corner is missing decorative 
elements (acanthus and volute components) from its Corinthian 
capital. Corrosion has deteriorated the column base resulting 

Masonry

 Metals
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in a substantial loss of material.

•A heavy build-up of paint obscures the detail and relief on the 
storefront’s cast iron pilasters and corner column.

•A decorative rosette is missing from the north bracket of 
the pressed metal storefront cornice. The word “BANK” is 
ghosted on the frieze of the cornice over the southwest corner 
entrance.

•The paint finish has failed on the pressed metal storefront 
cornice, exhibiting extensive flaking and peeling. 

 
•Painted wood members attached to the top outer edge of the 
southwest corner entrance indicate that a wood frame storm 
enclosure was once installed here.

•Wood surfaces are deteriorated and require repair.	  

 
 
Although not the primary façade, the south elevation features elements 
that distinguish it from the merely functional east and north elevations. 
A full-length pressed-metal cornice at the top of the wall, rock-faced 
sandstone segmental window and door arches, and a recessed entry in 
the lower west corner with a pressed metal cornice and Corinthian iron 
column communicate the prominence of the south building façade.

Window openings are evenly spaced in three rows of six. Aligned within 
this pattern, two first floor openings each accommodate a single door 
with transom. Historic photographs show a wood platform and stairs 
without a railing at the east door opening.

 
•There is painted graffiti on the lower west corner of the fa-
çade.

•A large painted sign advertising printing services is located 
on the lower central portion of the façade.

•Miscellaneous hardware from early signage remains attached 
to the brick masonry along the southwest corner.

•Two sandstone blocks from the second floor window opening 
closest to the east corner have fallen. The blocks have been 
salvaged and are stored in the building.

Wood

South Elevation
Description

Masonry
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•A decorative rosette is missing from the west corner bracket 
of the pressed-metal storefront cornice. The word “BANK” is 
ghosted on the frieze of the cornice over the southwest corner 
entrance. 

•The paint finish has failed on the pressed-metal storefront 
cornice, exhibiting extensive flaking and peeling. 

•There is a painted metal and neon sign mounted near the 
west corner of the third floor façade that reads: “MASONIC 
TEMPLE”. The paint is faded and peeling. Elements of the 
neon glass are missing.

•The original pressed-metal cornice is in good to fair condition. 
Corrosion and loss of material is evident. Original pressed-
metal corner brackets and finials are missing.

•A non-contributing plywood sign (ca. 1970-1980) is mounted 
to the brick masonry adjacent to the southwest corner en-
trance.

•A small wood casement window near the west corner of the 
first floor façade is a later alteration.

•An original window opening on the south elevation (fourth 
from the southwest corner) has been converted to a door open-
ing with transom. The alteration appears to have been made 
early in the building’s history.

•Surface-mounted electrical meters and conduit are attached 
to the lower façade. Remnants of the early electrical service 
are also extant. 

The east elevation originally faced a back alley (now Fourth Street) 
and is functional in character. There is a flat-roofed concrete basement 
entrance enclosure in the lower south corner. Also attached here is a 
recently constructed bulkhead enclosure in poor condition. A double 
service door opening and a single door opening, both with transoms, and 
four window openings punctuate the first floor but do not align with the 
two rows of three window openings on the second and third floors. 

Historic photographs show an angled bulkhead of mine rubble ma-

Metals

Wood

Miscellaneous
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sonry in the location of the current south concrete basement entrance 
enclosure. A similar bulkhead appears at the north concrete basement 
enclosure. A wood platform with stairs was located at the north double 
service doors. 

•The brick masonry displays extensive failure particularly 
under the window sills, under the eaves, and at the bottom of 
the wall. In areas, deformation has occurred as the brick has 
separated from the wall. Large areas will require replacement. 
A section of masonry below the north second floor window has 
been covered with sheet metal to prevent collapse. 

•Three window openings have been fitted with plywood win-
dow panels. 

•The double service doors are missing and covered with painted 
plywood panels. 

•The ends of the exposed rafter tails are cut with a decorative 
profile and do not appear to be extensions of roof structure. 
Historic photographs do not depict this feature.

The north façade is functional in character and was intended to interface 
the side elevation of an adjacent building to the north. No building cur-
rently occupies this north lot which affords a clear unobstructed view 
of the Union Building from Fifth Street. Two rows of five window 
openings punctuate the second and third floors. There are four win-
dow openings and a door opening with transom on the first floor. Two 
smaller double-hung windows are located in the upper west corner. 
These windows are not original. 

The parapet wall is stepped with two integral chimneys. A painted metal 
fire escape from a third floor window extends diagonally across the 
middle of the facade. Surface-mounted electrical conduits and meters 
are attached at the lower east corner. There are two abandoned wall-
mounted metal light poles on the first floor. The first floor is painted 
from the top of the sandstone water table to the bottom of the second 
floor window sills. There is a small rectangular metal fallout shelter 
sign in the lower west corner. 

•Rust stains on the brick masonry are visible under the metal 
fire escape.

East Elevation
Description

Masonry

Wood

North Elevation
Description
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•There is pronounced spalling and cracking in the brick ma-
sonry at the base of the wall and in the east and west upper 
corners.

•The configuration of the exposed metal fire escape does not 
comply with current egress requirements. Corrosion has weak-
ened its structural integrity. 

•Two windows have painted plywood cover panels.

•An original door opening on the north elevation (third opening 
from the northeast corner) has been converted from a door to 
a window opening. The sill is constructed from a bond course 
of brick masonry.

Primary exterior features or elements that contribute to the Union 
Building’s period of significance include:

•Brick masonry wall construction.

•Sill courses, string courses, window sills, water table, and 
rock-faced window heads constructed of local Jacobsville 
sandstone.

•Three-story wall height; rectangular massing.

•Segmentally arched door and window openings on the north 
and east elevations.

•Pressed metal, projecting cornice on the south elevation.

•Decorative terra cotta tile on the west elevation.

•Storefront components including: pressed metal storefront 
cornice, cast iron columns and stoops, and original wood 
components including bulkhead construction and remnants of 
original window frames.

•Recessed corner entrance with cast iron column.

•Regularly spaced, double-hung wood windows and sliding-
sash wood windows.

•Original wood paneled doors with glazing and hardware.

Masonry

Metals

Wood

Miscellaneous

Character-Defining 
Features 
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•Building signage including: a painted masonry sign and a neon  
“MASONIC TEMPLE” sign on the south elevation; ghost 
markings of the word “BANK” on both sides of the storefront 
cornice above the southwest corner entrance; the letters “IOOF 
“ and “F&AM” cast in decorative terra cotta above the middle 
west elevation second and third floor windows; and a fallout 
shelter sign on the north elevation.

•Metal fire escape on the north elevation.

•Mine rock foundation.

•Exterior concrete basement entrance on the east elevation.

The basement foundation walls are constructed of exposed mine rubble 
masonry approximately two feet thick. A load-bearing stone rubble wall 
divides the Union Building’s full basement lengthwise. A secondary, 
non-load-bearing stone rubble wall intersects the center wall forming 
a cross in plan. The foundation for a first floor safe is located along the 
south side of the longitudinal interior masonry wall. Window openings 
are typically blocked-in with concrete or wood cover panels.

The floor is typically poured concrete with areas of exposed earth. The 
ceiling is the exposed structure of the first floor wood framing. Two 
rows of square brick columns run lengthwise supporting heavy timber 
beams. The wood plank sub-floor is visible between the floor joists 
spanning north - south.  

Room feature inventories and condition assessments are recorded in the 

Interior
Basement

General Conditions
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following schedules. Exceptions and specific conditions are noted.

First floor perimeter walls are brick masonry approximately one-and-
one-half feet thick. A load-bearing brick masonry wall bisects the first 
floor longitudinally. There is a safe with two-and-one-half feet thick 
brick masonry located on this wall. The stairway is located in the 
southwest corner. Wood and glass storefronts comprise the west walls 
facing Fifth Street. Tall, rectangular, double-hung wood windows are 
common to the south, east, and north perimeter walls.   

Interior partition walls are wood construction. Interior wall surfaces 
are painted or papered plaster with wainscoting or chair rail. Door and 
window casings are either varnished or painted wood with a reeded 
profile and corner block assembly. Recently installed partition walls 
are constructed of wood and gypsum board and are typically not full 
height. 

Floors are hardwood with twelve-inch-wide baseboards. Ceilings are 
either painted plaster or bead board. A decorative pressed metal ceiling 
is installed in the south commercial space. 

Room feature inventories and condition assessments are recorded in the 
following schedules. Exceptions and specific conditions are noted. 

The perimeter walls are brick masonry approximately one-and-one-half 
feet thick. Interior partition walls are wood construction. Tall, rectan-
gular, double-hung wood windows are common to all perimeter walls. 
The room configuration consists of a large rectangular meeting room in 
the northeast corner with smaller rooms clustered in an L-shape along 
the south and west sides. Accessed by a stair, there is a storage room 
located over the kitchen in the southeast corner.

Interior wall surfaces are painted or papered plaster. Room, door, and 
window trim is a dark-stained wood with a smooth profile and return 
corners. Preliminary investigations in some rooms reveal the ghost-
ing of an earlier trim installation indicating that the current trim is not 
original. Wood trim in the stairwell, however, matches the first floor 
reeded casings and corner blocks. A series of evenly spaced vertical 
trim boards with a cap form a decorative band along bottom half of the 
walls in some rooms. The largest room has chair rail trim. 

The floors are hardwood with twelve-inch base trim. The ceilings are 
typically painted plaster with decorative boxed-in beams.

Room feature inventories and condition assessments are recorded in the 

First Floor
General Conditions

Second Floor
General Conditions
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following schedules. Exceptions and specific conditions are noted. 

The perimeter walls are brick masonry approximately one-and-one-half 
feet thick. Interior partition walls are wood construction. Tall, rectan-
gular, double-hung wood windows are common to all perimeter walls. 
The room configuration is similar to the second floor and also consists 
of a large rectangular meeting room in the northeast corner with smaller 
rooms clustered in an L-shape along the south and west sides. At the 
east end of the large meeting room there is an elevated stage with extant 
historic lighting and painted partitions.

Interior wall surfaces are painted or papered plaster. Room, door, and 
window trim is similar to the first floor reeded casings and corner blocks. 
A chair rail is installed in most rooms. 

The floors are hardwood with twelve-inch base trim. The ceilings are 
typically painted plaster. The large meeting room has a decorative 
pressed metal ceiling.

Room feature inventories and condition assessments are recorded in the 
following schedules. Exceptions and specific conditions are noted. 

The third-and-one-half floor is primarily dedicated to the attic space 
with the floor joists, roof rafters, and timber posts exposed. The west 
end of this floor is located under the high end of the sloping roof. Open 
to the stairway, two aisles of wood storage lockers are installed in this 
space. 

The floor is hardwood. The sloped ceiling is painted fiberboard with 
batten strips. There are two small, double-hung windows at the north 
end of both aisles.

Room feature inventories and condition assessments are recorded in the 
following schedules. Exceptions and specific conditions are noted.

Third Floor
General Conditions

Third-and-one-half 
Floor

General Conditions
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Existing topography is relatively flat. Positive drainage away from the 
building occurs on the south side while the north receives stormwater 
runoff from an adjacent bituminous parking lot. The roof and surface 
stormwater collects in a slight depression in the poorly drained east 
yard. The west elevation of the building fronts Fifth Street at the right-
of-way and the adjacent concrete sidewalk diverts surface drainage 
toward the road. 

Traffic circulation adjacent to the site includes two-way traffic on Fifth 
Street and Fourth Street. A curb cut on Fifth street provides access to an 
alley on the north side of the building. Public parking is limited along 
Fifth Street while Fourth Street offers ample free public parking in an 
existing underutilized lot.

Pedestrian traffic occurs primarily on a concrete sidewalk adjacent to 
Fifth Street. From this walk a smaller two-foot-wide concrete walk 
extends into the site along the south elevation of the building. This 
smaller walk connects to two doorways in the southeast corner of the 
building before continuing toward the east yard where it terminates. 
The walk along Fifth Street was replaced in the summer of 2001 while 
the smaller one is original. Both are in serviceable condition.

The building is serviced with utilities at several locations. A twelve-
foot-wide utility easement is centered on the south property line. It is 
believed the easement carries a natural gas line and a water line be-
tween Fifth and Fourth Streets. Natural gas enters the basement on the 
north wall in the east corner of the building. Electrical and telephone 
service enters the building at the northeast corner via an overhead line. 
This service connects to the primary electric distribution line that runs 
parallel to Fourth Street. The water service enters the building on the 
west side of the south wall while the sanitary sewer leaves the building 
near the northwest corner. No cable television service exists, although 
the service is available.

Existing vegetation on site is composed of overgrown eastern arbor-
vitae hedges (Thuja occidentalis) and lawn. The arborvitae hedges are 
planted in an alley along the south edge of the site and also as a single 
row parallel to Fourth Street at the rear of the lot. Photographic and 
plan evidence suggest the arborvitae were planted sometime after the 
development of landscape architect Warren Manning’s plan for Agassiz 
Park in the 1920’s. The plantings appear consistent with those delin-
eated on Manning’s plan, suggesting that his vision was accepted by 
C&H and the community. Previously, photos of the site show only lawn 
and worn footpaths where the narrow sidewalk now exists and along 
what has become Fourth Street. The age and health of the arbovitae 
specimens should be evaluated to more accurately determine when they 
were installed and to identify any maintenance concerns. Although the 

Site
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arborvitae no longer exhibit the lower dense screening characteristics 
for which they were likely planted, they now bear their own unique and 
historic appeal. They also screen off site views of modern buildings to 
the east. The rough lawn is sparsely populated with grasses and weeds 
commonly found in this region.

Aspects of the site that remain from the period of significance are:

•Flat topography with rough lawn.

•Spatial relationship of the building to the surrounding historic 
structures including St. Anne’s Catholic Church, The Com-
munity Church, The Episcopal Church, structures at Copper-
town Museum (formerly the C&H pattern shop), and in the 
industrial core and the National Guard Armory (formerly the 
coliseum).

•Evenly spaced eastern arborvitae planted in an alley along the 
south property line and in a single row along Fourth St.

•Pigmented concrete walk with vertical curbing and period 
lighting along Fifth Street.

•Plain, narrow, concrete walk along the south edge of the 
building.

Character Defining 
Features
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Appendix

•Bibliography

•Room Surveys

•Door Surveys

•Window Surveys

•Steam Radiator Survey
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